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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
SEDIGHEH ZOLFAGHARI,
Plaintiff,

V.

Civ. Case No.

UNITED STATES ARMY
CORPS OF ENGINEERS;
LEIUTENANT GENERAL
WILLIAM H. GRAHAM JR., in
his official capacity as commander
and Chief of the Engineers of the
Corps; and ALISA ZARBO, in her
official capacity as Chief Engineer
of the Palm Beach Section of the
Corps,

COMPLAINT
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Defendants.
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INTRODUCTION

Sedigheh Zolfaghari grew up spending her summers on the farm. While her father worked
as a pharmacist in the city, he still helped out on the old family farm whenever he could, and
Sedigheh has always fondly remembered her time riding and caring for the horses. It was an
idyllic—if far from luxurious—environment in which to grow up, and she has dreamed of
recreating it ever since.

Sedigheh followed in her father’s footsteps and, after moving to the United States with
nothing but a backpack, began her career as a pediatrician. Dr. Zolfaghari established a successful
practice in New Jersey and raised two wonderful children. Eventually, however, she grew tired of
city life and the cold Northeastern winters, and decided to relocate to sunny Florida. She found the
perfect piece of property in Lake Worth, the middle of the State’s horse country, intending to spend
her well-earned retirement raising horses and spending time with her family. To that end, she wants
to construct a small stable and pasture on the property, just as authorized under the property’s
Agricultural-Rural zoning designation, see Palm Beach County Zoning Ordinance 2005-002,
Ex. O (2005).

The government is currently prohibiting her from doing so unless she obtains a permit from
the United States Army Corps of Engineers (“the Corps”) under Section 404 of the Clean Water
Act (“CWA?”), claiming that her property contains federally protected wetlands. The Corps is also
threatening her with litigation and more than $64,000 in fines for purported violations of an earlier
permit she received to construct a guest house on the property. Notice of Noncompliance (May 23,
2024) (Ex. 1). Dr. Zolfaghari’s property, however, does not contain any federally protected

wetlands; with the Corps itself acknowledging that “it appears that these wetlands may no longer

)
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fall under jurisdiction according to the current definition of [waters of the United States].” Email
from Jonathan Pempek to Sedigheh Zolfaghari (May 29, 2024) (Ex. 2). The Supreme Court has
limited the Corps’ jurisdiction under the CWA to traditional navigable waters of the United States
and those adjacent wetlands with a “continuous surface connection” to such waters, such as to be
virtually indistinguishable from them. See Sackett v. EPA, 598 U.S. 651, 671 (2023). If a wetland
does not satisfy these conditions, it is, as a matter of law, not among the regulable “navigable
waters” and outside the jurisdiction of the CWA.

Despite the Corps publicly acknowledging these limits to its jurisdiction and announcing
its intention to conduct a rulemaking to bring its regulations in conformity with the Sackett
decision, it continues to enforce CWA compliance on property that lies outside its jurisdiction.
Since the Corps forced many owners of non-jurisdictional property to comply with inapplicable
CWA permitting requirements under threat of civil and criminal penalties prior to Sackett, the
Corps now asserts that those owners have voluntarily contracted away their right to use their
property as they see fit. As the Corps told Dr. Zolfaghari, it was going to enforce the terms of the
permit “[r]egardless of [the land’s] jurisdictional status.” NWP Verification Letter (Feb. 21, 2025)
(Ex. 3). In other words, the Corps demands that Americans comply with its demands—even if
those demands were and are illegal—forever, or face prison time or punishing fines of tens of
thousands of dollars a day.

Years ago, the Corps saddled Dr. Zolfaghari with onerous and costly environmental
mitigation mandates as conditions for the granting of residential building permits over which the
Corps had no lawful authority, yet claimed purported authority. Originally, the Corps justified these

mandates by asserting that her property in Florida contained jurisdictional wetlands protected by
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the CWA, but the Corps today admits the property never contained jurisdictional wetlands.
Essentially, the Corps admits it has no constitutional or statutory authority to interfere with
Dr. Zolfaghari’s plans for her property, but it continues to demand she heed its authority anyway.
According to the Corps, since Dr. Zolfaghari signed building permits containing mitigation
requirements two decades ago, she is bound by those permits in perpetuity, regardless of the
underlying illegality of those permits. The Corps essentially extracted material concessions from
Dr. Zolfaghari on false pretenses and under threat of onerous fines and prison. Now, the Corps
hides behind that decades-old agreement even though the Supreme Court of the United States held
in Sackett that properties like Dr. Zolfaghari do not contain jurisdictional wetlands. The Corps’
continuing enforcement of its requirements contravenes Sackett. If the earlier permits were ever
enforceable, they certainly are no longer enforceable after Sackett. This Court must hold unlawful
and set aside the Corps’ continued illegal regulation of private property that is patently beyond the

Corps’ jurisdiction to regulate.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal
question jurisdiction).
2. This Court has the authority to provide the relief requested against the Defendants

under the Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 (Declaratory Judgment Act)
and 2412 (Equal Access to Justice Act), 5 U.S.C. § 702 (the Administrative Procedure Act), and

42 U.S.C. § 1988 (relief for violation of civil rights).
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3. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (2) because a
substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred, and the

property that is the subject of this action is located within, this judicial district.

PARTIES
4. Plaintiff Sedigheh Zolfaghari owns a home in Lake Worth, Florida, where she has

lived for more than 20 years.

5. Defendant Corps is a branch of the United States Army charged with, inter alia,
issuing permits for the discharge of dredged and fill material into waters of the United States and
adjacent wetlands.

6. The Corps is the U.S. government agency responsible for issuing and enforcing the

permits challenged in this action.

7. Defendant Lieutenant General William H. Graham Jr. is the Commander and Chief
of Engineers of the Corps.
8. In his capacity as Commander and Chief of Engineers of the Corps, Defendant

Graham is charged with enforcing Section 404 of the Clean Water Act, including the issuing of
permits authorizing the discharge of dredged and fill material, as well as overseeing the
promulgation of rules and regulations interpreting the Corps’ authority under the statute.

0. Defendant Graham is sued in his official capacity.

10. Defendant Alisa Zarbo is the Chief Engineer of the Palm Beach Gardens Section of
the Corps.

11. In her capacity as Chief Engineer, Defendant Zarbo oversees the review and

issuance of Corps permits for the Palm Beach Gardens Section in southern Florida.
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12. Defendant Zarbo refuses to conduct a jurisdictional determination and asserts that
Dr. Zolfaghari was required to comply with the terms of her permits “regardless” of whether her
property was jurisdictional or not. Ex. 3.

13. Defendant Zarbo is sued in her official capacity.

LEGAL BACKGROUND

14. Congress enacted the CWA in 1972 to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical,
and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).

15. The CWA prohibits “the discharge of any pollutant” into “navigable waters,” 33
U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1362(12)(A), and jointly empowers the Environmental Protection Agency
(“EPA”) and the Corps with its enforcement. See 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(a), 1344(a).

16. The text of the CWA facially applies only to the “navigable waters” of the United
States, defined as “the waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.” 33 U.S.C.
§§ 1251(a), 1362(7).

17.  The precise definition of “waters of the United States” has been the subject of
considerable controversy in the decades since the CWA’s enactment. See Sackett, 598 U.S. at 663.

18. At first, the Corps kept to its traditional role of ensuring the navigability of
America’s interstate shipping lanes, asserting jurisdiction over only those navigable waters
“capab[le] of use by the public for purposes of transportation or commerce.” 33 C.F.R.
§ 209.260(e)(1) (1975).

19. The Corps’ interpretation of its own authority under the CWA gradually expanded
over the years, culminating in a 2008 rulemaking asserting authority over “[a]ll . . . waters” that

“could affect interstate or foreign commerce,” including “intrastate lakes, rivers streams (including
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intermittent streams), mudflats, sandflats, wetlands, sloughs, prairie potholes, wet meadows, playa
lakes, or natural ponds.” 40 C.F.R. § 230.3(s)(3) (2008).

20. Further, the Corps expanded its authority over “adjacent” wetlands—any wetland
areas (also broadly defined) that happen to be “bordering, contiguous, or neighboring” a covered
water, including those wetlands that are physically separated from covered waters by natural or
man-made barriers. 40 C.F.R. §§ 230.3(b), 230.3(s)(7).

21. The U.S. Supreme Court, while inclined at the time to defer to the agencies’
interpretations, repeatedly expressed concern over the EPA and Corps’ arrogation of power to
themselves, attempting to cabin the worst excesses. See United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes,
Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 132-33, 135 (1985) (expressing concern over the Corps’ expansive
interpretation of the CWA, but nevertheless deferring to the agency on where to draw the line);
Solid Waste Agency of N. Cook Cnty. v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 531 U.S. 159, 168 (2001)
(rejecting the migratory bird rule, which extended jurisdiction to any waters or wetlands that “are
or would be used as habitat” by migratory birds or endangered species, holding that CWA
jurisdiction does not extend “to ponds that are not adjacent to open water”).

22. The Corps and the EPA continued to seek opportunities to expand their CWA
jurisdiction, largely through the increase in individualized determinations and promulgation of
vague regulations, see Sackett, 598 U.S. at 667, eventually requiring the Supreme Court to step in
again to rein the agencies in.

23. In Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715 (2006), the Court reversed a lower court
decision holding that the CWA covered wetlands near ditches and drains that eventually emptied

into navigable waters at least 11 miles away, but no opinion was able to win a Court majority.
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24. Following Rapanos, the EPA and the Corps “issued guidance documents that
‘recognized larger grey areas and called for more fact-intensive individualized determinations in
those grey areas.’” Sackett, 598 U.S. at 667 (quoting N. Parrillo, Federal Agency Guidance and
the Power To Bind: An Empirical Study of Agencies and Industries, 36 Yale J. on Reg. 165, 231
(2019)), culminating in a situation where the Corps was asserting that “almost all waters and
wetlands across the country theoretically could be subject to a case-specific jurisdictional
determination.” 80 Fed. Reg. 37054, 37056 (June 29, 2015).

25. This controversy over the extent of the agencies’ jurisdiction under the CWA came
to a head in Sackett. The Sacketts had purchased a piece of property in Idaho to build a home,
which required backfill of dirt and rocks. The EPA then came in and asserted the property was a
jurisdictional wetland and threatened the Sacketts with thousands of dollars of daily fines if they
did not restore the site to its previous state. Only, the Sacketts’ property did not include any waters
of the United States, being located across a 30-foot highway from “an unnamed tributary,” which
feeds into a non-navigable creek, which feeds into a navigable lake. Sackett, 598 U.S. at 662—-63.

26. The Supreme Court refused to accept the EPA’s (and by extension, the Corps’)
broad interpretation of EPA jurisdiction, and reaffirmed that the government’s authority to regulate
land under the CWA is limited to actual waters as traditionally conceived (i.e., oceans, lakes, rivers,
and streams) and those wetlands with a “continuous surface connection” to actual waters, such that
the wetland is “indistinguishably part of a body of water that itself constitutes ‘waters’ under the
CWA.” Sackert, 598 U.S. at 676-78. The CWA does not extend—and has never extended—to

wetlands that lack a continuous surface connection to waters of the United States.
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27. Under its CWA Section 404 authority, the Corps issues a series of Nationwide
Permits (“NWPs”) every 5 years (after which each NWP expires and must be amended or
reissued). Each NWP provides a broad authorization for a certain category of CWA-regulated
activity, setting basic contours within which regional and individualized permit decisions can be
made. For example, NWP 29, reissued in 2021, applies to residential developments and authorizes
the discharge of dredged or fill material “for the construction or expansion of a single residence, a
multiple unit residential development, or a residential subdivision,” while requiring individual
permittees to “submit a pre-construction notification to the district engineer prior to commencing
the activity.” 86 Fed. Reg. 2744, 2861 (Jan. 13, 2021).

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

28. Sedigheh Zolfaghari is a (now retired) physician of more than 25 years.

29. After completing her medical studies in her home country of Iran, she fled to the
freedom and security of the United States shortly before the Ayatollah’s revolution.

30.  In America, Dr. Zolfaghari raised two wonderful children and enjoyed a long and
successful career as a pediatrician.

31. Upon her retirement, Dr. Zolfaghari purchased a picturesque piece of property in
Lake Worth, Florida, in 2002, where she has happily lived for more than 20 years.

32. The property she purchased is located at 5862 Homeland Road, Lake Worth, Florida

33449.
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33. The property is roughly triangular in shape, with Homeland Road along its western
boundary, a neighboring residential property along its southern boundary, and a canal along its

eastern boundary, as shown in this satellite imagery obtained from Google Maps:

34. The interior of the property includes some areas of marshy soil that can be described
as wet, but these areas of the property are separated from the canal by at least 30 feet of dry land
with no continuous surface connection to the canal or any other body of water that could be
construed as a water of the United States.

35.  InMarch 2000, the Corps conducted a jurisdictional determination at the request of
the property’s previous owner and determined that “the majority of the lot” included jurisdictional
wetlands. Jurisdictional Determination (Mar. 23, 2000) (Ex. 4).

36.  In January 2009, the Corps described the purported wetlands on the property as
“adjacent [to a] non-relatively permanent waterbody,” Guest House Permit at 3 (Jan. 6, 2009)

(Ex. 5), a basis for CWA jurisdiction that the Supreme Court and the Corps itself have explicitly
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rejected. See Sackett, 598 U.S. at 671 (“[T]The CWA’s use of ‘waters’ encompasses ‘only those
relatively permanent . . . bodies of water . . . that are described in ordinary parlance as ‘streams,
oceans, rivers, and lakes.’”) (quoting Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 739); 88 Fed. Reg. 61964, 61965
(Sept. 8, 2023).

37. Dr. Zolfaghari was informed when purchasing the property that it included
jurisdictional wetlands.

38. The property came with a pre-existing transferable Corps permit authorizing the
construction of a single-family home and stating the planned construction complied with the terms
of NWP 26. Original Army Corps Permit (Ex. 6).

39. NWP 26 expired in 2000 and was replaced, in relevant part, by NWP 29. NWP 29
was reissued in 2007, 2012, 2017, and 2021, and is the NWP that would apply to Dr. Zolfaghari’s
property—if it included jurisdictional wetlands.

40. The Corps’ building permit asserted that nearly the entirety of Dr. Zolfaghari’s
property was made up of jurisdictional wetlands.

41. In 2003, Dr. Zolfaghari received a construction permit from the Palm Beach County
Planning, Zoning & Building Department to build her home on the property.

42. Dr. Zolfaghari built the home in accordance with the permit terms—recognizing
she had no choice in the matter because otherwise the Corps could imprison and fine her, see 33
C.F.R. §§ 326.5 (describing availability of judicial action against violators of Section 404); 326.6
(describing availability of administrative penalties under Section 404), and lived on the property

for several years without any further interactions with the Corps.
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43. In 2008, Dr. Zolfaghari wished to build a guest house on the property for her son to
live in, and—trecognizing the risk of fines or prison if she built without the supposedly-required
permission of the Corps—she sought a new permit from the Corps to impact another half-acre of
purported wetlands.

44. The Corps approved construction of the guest house but conditioned its approval
on Dr. Zolfaghari agreeing to engage in certain mitigation activities, including maintaining two
acres of purported wetland in its natural state in perpetuity. Ex. 5, at 2-3.

45. Dr. Zolfaghari constructed the guest house in compliance with the Corps’ permit
terms.

46. In 2024, Dr. Zolfaghari wished to build a stable on the property to raise horses, an
authorized use under the property’s Agricultural-Rural zoning designation, see Palm Beach County
Zoning Ordinance 2005-002, Ex. O (2005), and sought permission from the Corps to do so.

47. While conducting an inspection of the property related to this request on April 3,
2024, the Corps claims to have identified a violation of Dr. Zolfaghari’s mitigation obligations
under Special Permit Condition 3 of the 2008 permit.

48. In a May 23, 2024, letter, the Corps accused Dr. Zolfaghari of placing fill material
in “jurisdictional wetlands” required to be maintained in their natural state in perpetuity by the
permit, and threatened her with litigation and more than $64,000 in fines unless she comes into
compliance with their demands.

49. After learning of the Supreme Court’s decision in Sackett, Dr. Zolfaghari
recognized that according to the decision none of the purported wetlands on her property satisfied

the Court’s test for determining the appropriate scope of CWA jurisdiction.

—12—



Case 9:25-cv-80850-XXXX Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 07/07/2025 Page 13 of 130

50. Simply put, no continuous surface connection to any body of water that could be
plausibly described as a water of the United States exists that extends the Corps’ jurisdiction over
the canal to Dr. Zolfaghari’s non-jurisdictional property.

51. Throughout the summer of 2024, Dr. Zolfaghari attempted to raise her concerns
about the non-applicability of the CWA to her property with local Corps officials.

52. In an email dated May 29, 2024, Corps compliance and enforcement officer
Jonathan Pempek told Dr. Zolfaghari that “it appears that these wetlands may no longer fall under
jurisdiction according to the current definition of [waters of the United States].” Ex. 2.

53. On May 31, 2024, Dr. Zolfaghari sought a reverification of the jurisdictional status
of her property from the Corps, considering the Supreme Court’s explication of the law in Sackett.
Request for Corps Jurisdictional Determination (May 31, 2024) (Ex. 7).

54. In an email dated July 22, 2024, Kyle Nichols, a Senior Project Manager at the
Corps’ Regulatory Division in Miami, informed Dr. Zolfaghari that a site visit had been conducted
“which appears to be sufficient to make our determination” regarding her request for a
jurisdictional determination. The email states that a jurisdictional determination would be
completed, posted online, and sent to Dr. Zolfaghari.

55. On information and belief, no jurisdictional determination has been published,
either online or to Dr. Zolfaghari directly.

56. On February 21, 2025, Dr. Zolfaghari received a letter from Alisa Zarbo, Chief of

the Corps’ Palm Beach Gardens Section. EXx. 3.
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57. The Corps refused to provide a jurisdictional determination for the property,
asserting Dr. Zolfaghari’s permit gave it all the authority it needed, “[r]egardless of [the land’s]
jurisdictional status.” Ex. 3.

58. The Corps told Dr. Zolfaghari that it may consider modifying the terms of her
permit, should she apply for it, but that any modification would still require a mitigation plan to
offset the impacts of construction. In other words, the Corps not only illegally asserts authority
over her property, it asserts that the permits it issued are contracts that are perpetual and last forever.

59. Dr. Zolfaghari now brings this action seeking a declaration that the permit
conditions requiring CWA mitigation and compliance with Nationwide Permit 26 are null and void
ab initio as an ultra vires abuse of the Corps’ statutory authority, an injunction prohibiting the
Corps from attempting to regulate Dr. Zolfaghari’s non-jurisdictional property going forward, and
nominal damages for the violation of Dr. Zolfaghari’s Fifth Amendment rights under Bivens v. Six
Unknown Named Agents of Fed. Bureaus of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388 (1971).

60. Alternatively, if they were not void ab initio, the Court should declare them no
longer enforceable since they are premised on the Corps’ continued illegal assertion of
jurisdiction—post Sackett—over Dr. Zolfaghari’s property.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
Count I

The Corps’ Assertion of Jurisdiction is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or
otherwise not in accordance with law

(APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A))

61. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.
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62. The Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) requires this Court to hold unlawful
and set aside any agency action that is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise
not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

63. The CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants into the “navigable waters” or
“waters of the United States,” and jointly charges the Corps and the EPA with the statute’s
enforcement.

64. “[TThe CWA’s use of ‘waters’ encompasses ‘only those relatively permanent,
standing or continuously flowing bodies of water “‘forming geographic[al] features’ that are
described in ordinary parlance as ‘streams, oceans, rivers, and lakes.”” Sackett, 598 U.S. at 671
(quoting Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 739).

65. While Congress has amended the CWA to extend to “wetlands adjacent” to waters
of the United States, wetlands are not, themselves, waters of the United States, and this expansion
of jurisdiction was strictly limited to “adjacent” wetlands. See 33 U.S.C. § 1344(g)(1).

66. In Sackett, the Supreme Court made it clear that agencies may only regulate
(1) “those relatively permanent, standing or continuously flowing bodies of water ‘forming
geographic[al] features’ that are described in ordinary parlance as ‘streams, oceans, rivers, and
lakes,”” Sackett, 598 U.S. at 671 (quoting Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 739 (plurality opinion)); and
(2) “wetlands” (i) with a “continuous surface connection” to such waters (ii) that are “‘as a
practical matter indistinguishable from waters of the United States,” such that it is ‘difficult to
determine where the “water” ends and the “wetland” begins,’” id. at 678 (quoting Rapanos, 547
U.S. at 742 (plurality opinion)). If a wetland does not satisfy these conditions, it is, as a matter of

law, not among the regulable “waters of the United States.”
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67. Supreme Court decisions applying a rule of federal law must be given full
retroactive effect, “regardless of whether such events predate or postdate [the Supreme Court’s]
announcement of the rule.” Harper v. Va. Dep t of Tax'n, 509 U.S. 86, 97 (1993).

68. Any purported wetlands on Dr. Zolfaghari’s property lack a continuous surface
connection to a body of water that can be described as a water of the United States in its own right.

69. In asserting authority over non-jurisdictional private property “regardless” of
whether the CWA applies, prohibiting Dr. Zolfaghari full use and enjoyment of that same property,
and continuing to hold Dr. Zolfaghari responsible for rewilding and other environmental mitigation
activities on the property, the Corps is acting in direct contravention of the Supreme Court’s
command in Sackett to cease attempting to regulate wetlands that lack a continuous surface
connection to a water of the United States.

70. By these acts or omissions, the Corps violated the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). The
permits at issue in this case are therefore invalid and must be set aside.

Count II

The Corps’ Assertion of Jurisdiction is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or
limitations, or short of statutory right

(APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C))

71. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

72. The APA requires this Court to hold unlawful and set aside any agency action that
exceeds the agency’s statutory authority. 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

73. For the reasons articulated above at Paragraphs 63—69, the Corps’ assertion of
authority to regulate Plaintiff’s property regardless of its jurisdictional status under the CWA

directly contravenes Sackett’s test for federal wetlands authority, and as a result the CWA’s limited
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grant of jurisdiction for the Corps to regulate “navigable waters,” defined as “the waters of the
United States.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).

74. Further, when an agency claims broad authority to exercise powers of “vast
economic and political significance,” it “must point to ‘clear congressional authorization’ for the
power it claims.” West Virginia v. EPA, 597 U.S. 697, 716, 723 (2022) (quoting Util. Air Regul.
Grp. v. EPA, 573 U.S. 302, 324 (2014)).

75. In Sackett, the Supreme Court recognized that tens of millions of non-adjacent lands
the Corps claimed authority over were outside the jurisdiction conferred by Section 404 of the
CWA, a reduction of up to 84%. See National Resources Defense Council, Report, Mapping
Destruction: Using GIS Modeling to Show the Disastrous Impacts of Sackett v. EPA on

America’s Wetlands 6, 13 (Mar. 2025), https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/2025-

03/Wetlands Report R 25-03-B_05 locked.pdf (analyzing data from the United States
Geological Survey and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service’s Wetland Inventory Map).

76. A substantial proportion of Section 404 permits issued prior to 2023 likely do not
encompass jurisdictional wetlands.

77. The Corps’ assertion of “highly consequential power,” Georgia v. President of the
United States, 46 F.4th 1283, 1296 (11th Cir. 2022), to continue enforcement over lands outside
its jurisdiction and attempted end-run around the Supreme Court’s decision in Sackett is thus an
extraordinary attempt to unilaterally expand the scope of its authority in the face of explicit rebuke
from the Supreme Court.

78. The Corps’ assertion of authority here therefore concerns an issue of vast economic

and political significance.
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79. That assertion of authority also requires a clear statement from Congress because it
would “significantly alter the balance between federal and state power and the power of the
Government over private property.” Sackett, 598 U.S. at 679. By continuing to enforce the CWA
where it has no jurisdiction over private property, the Corps is undermining the “core of traditional
state authority” to regulate land and water use. /d. at 680.

80. If accepted, the Corps’ view of its power will also have the widespread consequence
of forcing any landowners victimized by the pre-Sackett regulatory regime to continue abiding by
the costly impacts of illegal permits under the threat of severe civil and criminal liability for normal
use of their property. To assert that authority would also require a clear statement from Congress.
Id. at 680-81.

81. The Corps cannot identify a clear statement authorizing it to exercise this sweeping
power. Indeed, there is nothing in the statute authorizing the continued enforcement over non-
jurisdictional wetlands under the CWA. See La. Pub. Serv. Comm’n v. FCC, 476 U.S. 355, 374
(1986) (“[A]n agency literally has no power to act . . . unless and until Congress confers power

upon it.”).

82. By these acts or omissions, the Corps violated the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C). The
permits at issue are invalid and must be set aside.
Count I1I
The Permits place unconstitutional conditions on the use of Plaintiff’s property
(5th Amendment)

83. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.
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84. The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the government
from taking private property for public use without just compensation. U.S. Const. amend. V.

85. Courts have long recognized takings may take forms other than direct
appropriations of property. See Lucas v. S.C. Coastal Council, 505 U.S. 1003, 1014 (1992)
(“[W]hile property may be regulated to a certain extent, if the regulation goes too far it will be
recognized as a taking.”) (quoting Pa. Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393, 415 (1922)). These types
of takings are referred to as “regulatory takings.” /d. at 1015.

86. The government “may not deny a benefit to a person on a basis that infringes his
constitutionally protected interests.” Sheetz v. Cnty. of El Dorado, 601 U.S. 267, 275 (2024)
(quoting Perry v. Sindermann, 408 U.S. 593, 597 (1972)).

87. In the Fifth Amendment land use context, this “unconstitutional conditions”
doctrine prohibits the government from “requir[ing] a person to give up a constitutional right—
here the right to receive just compensation when property is taken for a public use—in exchange
for a discretionary benefit conferred by the government where the benefit sought has little or no
relationship to the property.” Dolan v. City of Tigard, 512 U.S. 374, 385 (1994).

88. There must be an “essential nexus” between some “legitimate state interest” and
the specific conditions exacted in exchange for the approval of a permit. /d. at 386.

89. The fact that a particular property owner may have agreed to an unconstitutional
condition prior to subsequent judicial precedent making it clear the condition was unconstitutional
is irrelevant to the fact that the condition is, in reality, unconstitutional. See generally City of Venice
v. Neal Communities of SW FL, LLC, No. 2017-CA-3532-NC, 2019 WL 495769 (Fla. Cir. Ct.

Feb. 8, 2019).

—19—



Case 9:25-cv-80850-XXXX Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 07/07/2025 Page 20 of 130

90. Here, the lack of jurisdictional wetlands on Plaintiff’s property means there is no
substantial nexus between the conditions placed on Plaintiff’s permits and the Corps’ legitimate
interest in enforcing the CWA.

91. Forcing a property owner “to choose between the building permit and her right
under the Fifth Amendment to just compensation for the public easements” when the government
has not conferred any “special benefits” in exchange constitutes an unconstitutional condition in
violation of the Fifth Amendment. Dolan, 512 U.S. at 385.

92. In conditioning its approval of Plaintiff’s ordinary, lawful use of her private
property on compliance with mitigation requirements that it lacks any statutory authority to apply
to the property in question, the Corps has saddled Plaintiff with an unconstitutional burden on her
right to use her property that it could not impose on her directly. The Corps has no legitimate
interest in regulating land it has no jurisdiction over, and certainly no legitimate interest in
requiring Plaintiff give up what is essentially a private easement over much of her property to
protect jurisdictional wetlands that do not exist.

Count 1V
The permits are null and void ab initio under common law contract principles
(28 U.S.C. § 1367 — Supplemental Jurisdiction)

93. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

94, When a contract is “technically defective, contrary to public policy, or illegal,” that
renders the contract “void ab initio.” Landcastle Acquisition Corp. v. Renasant Bank, 57 F.4th
1203, 1223 (11th Cir. 2023) (citing Void Contract, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)).

95. Statutory authority to enter into a specific contract is a condition precedent to the

validity of a contract between an individual and the federal government. See United States v. Miss.
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Valley Generating Co., 364 U.S. 520, 563—66 (1961) (Supreme Court held federal contract void
because the government agent lacked authority to enter into the agreement and contracts made in
violation of statutory requirements are unenforceable); Helton v. United States, 532 F. Supp. 813,
819-20 (S.D. Ga. 1982) (“[I]f the officer’s action, or the statutory authority for his action, is
unconstitutional, such action is invalid ab initio . . . .”).

96. For the reasons articulated above at Paragraphs 63—69 the Corps’ assertion of
authority to regulate Plaintiff’s property regardless of its jurisdictional status under the CWA
directly contravenes Sackett’s test for federal wetlands authority and the CWA’s ordinary meaning,
and as a result the CWA’s limited grant of jurisdiction for the Corps to regulate “navigable waters,”
defined as “the waters of the United States.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7). The Corps lacks—and has
always lacked—authority to require Plaintiff to mitigate and refrain from developing her non-
jurisdictional property, which renders those permit restrictions invalid ab initio. See Harper, 509
U.S. at 107 (Scalia, J., concurring) (“For if it be found that the former decision is manifestly absurd
or unjust, it is declared, not that such a sentence was bad law, but that it was not law.”) (quoting
1 W. Blackstone, Commentaries 70 (1765) (emphasis in original)).

97. Further, mutual consideration is a necessary element of contract formation,
including contracts with the federal government. N. Ala. Elec. Co-op v. Tenn. Valley Auth., 862 F.
Supp. 2d 1291, 1299 (N.D. Ala. 2012) (quoting Sec’y of U.S. Air Force v. Commemorative Air
Force, 585 F. 3d 895, 900 (6th Cir. 2009)).

98. Because the Corps never had jurisdiction—and therefore the authority to prevent
otherwise lawful development of Plaintiff’s property—Plaintift did not receive anything of value

in consideration for the burdens she agreed to take on.
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99. Because Plaintiff did not receive anything of value that she did not already possess
a complete right to when contracting with the Corps, the two permits for the main residence and
guest house lacked consideration and are therefore void ab initio.

Count V
The permits should be rescinded under equitable principles
(28 U.S.C. § 1367 — Supplemental Jurisdiction)

100. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

101. Even if this Court determines that the Corps’ assertion of jurisdiction over
Plaintiff’s property is not unlawful or otherwise void, equity requires that the permits at issue be
rescinded or voided.

102.  Under general contract law principles, recission by the adversely affected party to
a contract is available when the contract is based on a mutual mistake “as to a basic assumption on
which the contract was made . . . .” Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 152(1). See also United
States v. Fla. W. Int’l Airways, Inc., 853 F. Supp. 2d 1209, 1239 (S.D. Fla. 2012) (The “appropriate
remedy in this situation is recission because the mutual mistake relates to a basic assumption of
the Plea Agreement.”).

103.  The jurisdictional nature of Plaintiff’s property is the basic assumption on which
the Corps required Plaintiff to agree to the permit terms in return for being allowed to build an
otherwise lawful home and guest house. If not for the mistaken belief that Plaintiff’s property is
subject to the Corps’ CWA jurisdiction, no permits would have ever been required or obtained.

104. This mistake as to the jurisdictional nature of Plaintiff’s property was mutual.

105. The balance of equities weighs in favor of rescission, as Plaintiff currently both

cannot develop her property as she would prefer and is burdened with costly mitigation
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requirements, while neither the Corps nor the public at large has an interest in the regulation of
property outside of the Corps’ lawful jurisdiction.
Count VI
Contract void for illegality

106. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

107. Under longstanding principles of contract law, “where the contract grows
immediately out of an illegal act, a Court of justice will not enforce it.” Armstrong v. Toler, 24 U.S.
258, 268 (1826).

108.  As Chief Justice Marshall stated, “no principle is better settled, than that no action
can be maintained on a contract, the consideration of which is either wicked in itself, or prohibited
by law.” Id. at 271-72.

109. Even if the permits were not void ab initio, the contracts are illegal post-Sackett

and thus unenforceable.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

For the injuries outlined above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter
judgment in her favor and provide the following relief:
1. Declare the Corps’ assertion over Plaintiff’s non-jurisdictional property is arbitrary,
capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law;
2. Declare the Corps’ assertion over Plaintiff’s non-jurisdictional property is an ultra vires
act in excess of its statutory authority, or otherwise illegal;
3. Setaside the Corps’ assertion of jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s non-jurisdictional property

as unlawful pursuant to Section 706 of the APA;
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4. Permanently enjoin Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and all
persons in active concert or participation with them from enforcing against Plaintiff the
terms of any permit premised on a theory of CWA jurisdiction incompatible with the
meaning of the statute, as explained by the U.S. Supreme Court in Sackett v. EPA, 598
U.S. 651 (2023);

5. Award Plaintiff nominal money damages in compensation for the violation of her Fifth
Amendment rights;

6. In the alternative, rescind the permits under equitable principles as contracts entered
into in violation of the Corps’ statutory authority and under a mutual mixed mistake of
fact and law;

7. Award Plaintiff reasonable attorney fees and costs, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2412, 42
U.S.C. § 1988, or any other appropriate authority; and

8. Order such additional relief as justice may require.

DATED: July 7, 2025.

Respectfully submitted,
David C. McDonald* /s/ Mark Miller
Frank D. Garrison* Mark Miller
PACIFIC LEGAL FOUNDATION Fla. Bar No. 0094961
3100 Clarendon Blvd., Ste. 1000 PACIFIC LEGAL FOUNDATION
Arlington, VA 22201 4440 PGA Blvd., Ste. 307
Ph: (202) 888-6881 Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410
Email: dmcdonald@pacificlegal.org Ph: (561) 691-5000
fgarrison@pacificlegal.org Email: mark@pacificlegal.org

*pro hac vice pending

Attorneys for Plaintiff Sedigheh Zolfaghari
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS, JACKSONVILLE DISTRICT
4400 PGA BOULEVARD, SUITE 500
PALM BEACH GARDENS, FLORIDA 33410

February 21, 2025

Regulatory Division

South Permits Branch

Palm Beach Gardens Section
SAJ-2008-03599 (NWP-DW)

Sedigheh Zolfaghari

5862 Homeland Road

Lake Worth, Florida 33449

Sent via email: sedighehz@yahoo.com

Dear Ms. Zolfaghari:

The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) received your request to conduct a
jurisdictional determination on your property on June 10, 2024. Your application was
assigned file number SAJ-2008-03599. The project is located at 5862 Homeland Road,
in Section 35, Township 44 South, Range 41 East, Lake Worth, Palm Beach County,
Florida.

In your recent request to re-verify jurisdiction of your property, you stated that you do
not believe that the 2.0 acres of wetlands on your property are jurisdictional to the Corps
in light of the definition of waters of the United States in accordance with the Supreme
Court’s decision in Sackett. We understand that you seek to impact the remaining 2.0
acres of wetlands on your property, but we have not received a permit application or a
request for modification of your existing permit, discussed in more detail below.

On April 1, 2009, the Corps issued a verification for a Nationwide Permit (NWP) 29
which authorized impacts to 0.50 acre of jurisdicational wetlands under Section 404 of
the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1344) to construct a home addition. In connection with
your application for that permit, you proposed to mitigate the loss of the 0.50 acre of
jurisdictional wetlands by avoiding, enhancing, restoring, and preserving 2.0 acres of
onsite wetlands. The Corps accepted your compensatory mitigation plan and included
several permit conditions to effectuate the mitigation. Special Condition #3 required the
2.0 acres of wetlands to be avoided. Special Condition #5 required the 2.0 acre-
mitigation area to be enhanced, restored, and preserved in in accordance with the
approved migiation plan. Special Condition #13 required that the 2.0 acres of wetlands
be maintained in their natural state in perpetuity. This compensatory mitigation was
needed to ensure the impacts of the project were minimal to meet the terms and
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condition of the NWP, and to ensure that the project complies with the 404(b)(1)
Guidelines.

Regardless of their jurisdictional status, in accordance with your permit verification,
the 2.0 acres of wetland mitigation must still meet the requirements in Special
Conditions 3, 5 and 13 in perpetuity unless that authorization is modified, suspended or
revoked. The Corps can consider modifying the special conditions to allow the 2.0
acres of wetlands to be impacted, but would need a request for a modification, including
a mitigation plan that would offset the 0.50 acre of wetlands impacted under the original
permit verification in addition to any impacts to remaining jurisdictional areas. The
Corps would need to assess your request under the applicable regulations, which
includes the 2008 Compensatory Miigation Rule.

Thank you for your cooperation with our permit program. The Corps’ Jacksonville
District Regulatory Division is committed to improving service to our customers. We
strive to perform our duty in a friendly and timely manner while working to preserve our
environment. We invite you to complete our automated Customer Service Survey at
https://requlatory.ops.usace.army.mil/customer-service-survey/. Please be aware this
Internet address is case sensitive and you will need to enter it exactly as it appears
above. Your input is appreciated — favorable or otherwise.

Should you have any questions related to this NWP verification or have issues
accessing the documents referenced in this letter, please contact David White at the
Palm Beach Gardens Permits Section at the letterhead address, by telephone at 728-
219-6138, or by email at David.N.White@usace.army.mil.

Sincerely,

Alisa Zarbo
Chief, Palm Beach Gardens Section

Enclosures:
DA permit dated April 1, 2009
Compliance Report dated June 21, 2010
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U.S. Amy Corps of Engineers — Jacksonville District — Regulatory Division
REQUEST FOR CORPS JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION (JD)
(For Jurisdictional Status and Identifying Wetlands and Other Aquatic Resources)

I. PROPERTY AND AGENT INFORMATION

A. Site Details/Location:
Site Name: Lot 222 of Homeland PUD Date: 05/31/2024

Property Owner: Sedigheh Zolfaghari

Property Owner Address: 5862 Homeland Road Lake Worth , FL 33449

Phone: 561-628-6459 Email: sedighehz@yahoo.com
Property Address (es): 5862 Homeland Road Lake Worth , FL 33449

Acreage: 2 City/Parish/Section/Township/Range: HOMELAND TH PT OFLOT222LGY WITHIN SEC35-44-41
County: Palm Beach Parcel num ber(s): 00-41-44-35-01-000-2220

Latitude (decimal degrees): Longitude (decimal degrees):

B. Requestor of Jurisdictional Determination: (if there are multiple property owners please attach additional pages)
Name: SEDIGHEH ZOLFAGHARI
Company Name (if applicable):
Address: 5862 HOMELAND ROAD LAKE WORTH, FL 33449

Phone: 561-628-6459 Email: SEDIGHEHZ@YAHOO.COM
Check one: | currently own this property

[ ]I plan to purchase this property
[ ] Other, please explain

C. Agent/Environmental Consultant Acting on Behalf of the Requestor (if applicable):
Consultant/Agent Name: Company Name:
Address:

Phone: Email:

Il. REASON FOR REQUEST (check all that apply)

|:| I intend to construct/develop a project or perform activities on this site which would be designed to avoid
all aquatic resources.

|:| I intend to construct/develop a project or perform activities on this site which would be designed to avoid
all jurisdictional aquatic resources under Corps authority.

| intend to construct/develop a project or perform activities on this site which may require authorization
from the Corps, and the Jurisdictional Determination would be used to avoid and minimize impacts to
jurisdictional aquatic resources and as an initial step in a future permitting process.

|:| | intend to construct/develop a project or perform activities on this site which may require authorization
from the Corps; this request is accompanied by my permit application and the jurisdictional
determination is to be used in the permitting process.

|:|I intend to construct/develop a project or perform activities in a navigable water of the U.S., which is subject to
the ebb and flow of the tide.

|:| A Corps jurisdictional determination is required in order to obtain my local/state authorization.

|:| I intend to contest jurisdiction over a particular aquatic resource and the request the Corps to confirm that
jurisdiction does/does not exist over the aquatic resource on the parcel.

|:| | believe that the site may be comprised entirely of dry land.

|:| Other:
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lll. TYPE OF REQUEST: (check all that apply)

Approved1 Jurisdictional Determination (AJD) Only

|:| Preliminary? Jurisdictional Determination (PJD) Only

|:| Approved Jurisdictional Determination (AJD) with submittal of Pre-Construction Notification or Department
of the Army permit application

|:|Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination (PJD) with submittal of Pre-Construction Notification or Department
of the Army permit application

|:|Verify Delineation of Wetlands and/or Other Aquatic Resources Only Conducted by Agent/Environmental
Consultant with submittal of Pre-Construction Notification or Department of the Army permit application (No
jurisdictional determination requested).

|:|Verify Delineation of Wetlands and/or Other Aquatic Resources Only Conducted by Agent/Environmental
Consultant (No jurisdictional determination requested).

|:| | request that the Corps delineate the wetlands and/or other aquatic resources that may be present on
the property with the attached Pre-Construction Notification or Department of the Army Permit Application.?

|:| | request that the Corps delineate the wetlands and/or other aquatic resources that may be present on
my property with an AJD or PJD.3

|:| No Permit Required (NPR) Letter as | believe my proposed activity is not regulated.*

|:| Unclear as to which jurisdictional determination | would like and require additional information to inform

my decision.

'Approved — An AJD is defined in Corps regulations at 33 CFR 331.2. As explained in further detail in RGL 16-01, an AJD is used to
indicate that this office has identified the presence or absence of wetlands and/or other aquatic resources on a site, including their
accurate location(s) and boundaries, as well as their jurisdictional status. AJDs are valid for 5 years.

2Preliminary — A PJD is defined in Corps regulations at 33 CFR 331.2. As explained in further detail in RGL 16-01, a PJD is used to
indicate that this office has identified the approximate location(s) and boundaries of wetlands and/or other aquatic resources on a site
that are presumed to be subject to regulatory jurisdiction of the Corps of Engineers. Unlike an AJD, a PJD does not represent a
definitive, official determination that there are, or that there are not, jurisdictional aquatic resources on a site, and does not have an
expiration date.

3Corps Delineations-Current workload and staffing limitations may substantially delay the Corps ability to perform a wetland delineation.
The availability of the Corps to perform this service will be evaluated on a case by case basis. In general, the Corps will only perform
an on-site delineation for non-commercial entities on parcels which total 5 acres or less. To ensure the accuracy of the supporting
information and expedite review and processing, aquatic resource delineations should be completed by experienced/knowledgeable
professionals in accordance with Corps established procedures and then submitted to the Corps for verification.

4No Permit Required” (NPR) Letter- A NPR letter may be provided by the Corps to notify the requestor that an activity will not require a
permit (authorization) from the Corps; this letter can only be used if the proposed activity is not a regulated activity, regardless of where
the activity may occur. A NPR letter cannot be used to indicate the presence or absence of wetlands and/or other aquatic resources,
nor can it be used to determine their jurisdictional status.

*Please note that delineated boundaries of aquatic resources need to be flagged on-site in order for the Corps to field verify the
delineation. This applies to all delineations conducted by an Agent/Environmental Consultant for all types of projects, permit
applications, and JD requests. Additionally, the boundaries of the parcel should be clearly marked by staking, fences, cut lines, or other
landmarks, and the interior of the property should be readily accessible. Transect cut lines may be required for access and physical
reference in densely vegetated areas.
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IV. LEGAL RIGHT OF ENTRY

By signing below, | am indicating that | have the authority, or am acting as the duly authorized agent of a person or entity
with such authority, to and do hereby grant U.S. Army Corps of Engineers personnel right of entry to legally access the
property(ies) subject to this request for the purposes of conducting on-site investigations (e.g., digging and refilling
shallow holes) and issuing a jurisdictional determination. | acknowledge that my signature is an affirmation that | possess
the requisite property rights to request a jurisdictional determination on the properties subject to this request.

5862 Homeland Road, Lake Worth, FL 33449

5862 Homeland Road, Lake worth, FL 33449

Mailing Address

sedighehz@yahoo.com

Property Address/Parcel number(s)

561-628-6459

Email Address

Daytime Phone Number

SEDIGHEH ZOLFAGHARI/ 05/31/2024

*Signature

Printed Name and Date

Jacksonville Permits Section
P.O. Box 4970

Jacksonville, FL 32232-0019
Corpsjaxreg-nj@usace.army.mil

Cocoa Permits Section

400 High Point Drive, Suite 600
Cocoa, FL 32926-6662
Corpsjaxreg-nc@usace.army.mil

Pensacola Permits Section

41 North Jefferson Street, Suite 301
Pensacola, FL 32502-5664
Corpsjaxreg-NL@usace.army.mil

Panama City Permits Section
1002 West 23" Street,

Suite 350

Panama City, FL 32405-3648
Corpsjaxreg-NP@usace.army.mil

Tampa Permits Section

10117 Princess Palm Avenue, Suite
120

Tampa, FL 33610-8302
tampareg@usace.army.mil

Fort Myers Permits Section
1520 Royal Palm Square Blvd,
Suite 310

Fort Myers, FL 33919-1036

SF.New.Applications@usace.army.mil

Palm Beach Gardens Permits Section
4400 PGA Boulevard, Suite 500

Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410-
6557

Application-sp@usace.army.mil

Miami Permits Section
9900 SW 107" Avenue,
Suite 203

Miami, FL 33176-2785
SEAPPLS@usace.army.mil

Antilles Permits Section

Annex Building Fundacion

Angel Ramos

383 F.D. Roosevelt Ave., Suite 202
San Juan, Puerto Rico 00918

*Authorities: Rivers and Harbors Act, Section 10, 33 USC 403; Clean Water Act, Section 404, 33 USC 1344; Marine Protection, Research, and Sanctuaries Act, Section 103,
33 USC 1413; Regulatory Program of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; Final Rule for 33 CFR Parts 320-332.
Principal Purpose: The information that you provide will be used in evaluating your request to determine whether there are any aquatic resources within the project area
subject to federal jurisdiction under the regulatory authorities referenced above.
Routine Uses: This information may be shared with the Department of Justice and other federal, state, and local government agencies, and the public, and may be made
available as part of a public notice as required by federal law. Your name and property location where federal jurisdiction is to be determined will be included in the approved
jurisdictional determination (AJD), which will be made available to the public on the District's website and on the Headquarters USACE website.

Disclosure: Submission of requested information is voluntary; however, if information is not provided, the request for an AJD cannot be evaluated nor can an AJD be issued.
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U.S Army Corps of Engineers, Jacksonville District Regulatory Division
Information Recommended For a Wetland Delineation Submittal

This document provides a list of detailed information that is recommended for all
delineations of aquatic resources and upland determinations that are submitted to the
Corps for approval. The information listed below should be submitted with Jurisdictional
Determination Requests and/or Wetland Delineations. To reduce delays in verifying
Jurisdictional Determinations and Wetland Delineations, it is recommended that the
information provided is a complete and true representation of wetlands and other aquatic
resources that may be present onsite utilizing methods outlined in the 87 Wetland
Delineation Manual and appropriate Reqgional Supplement. Please note that disturbed or
problematic sites as well as sites with previous land use practices such as agriculture
and silviculture should utilize methods outlined in Chapter 5 of the Reqgional Supplement.

Jurisdictional Determination (JD) Request Form

e Current version from Jacksonville District website must be completed fully and signed.

Wetland Determination Data Forms

e Current version of appropriate data form must be used and completed fully.

o Data points should be taken to reflect the current site conditions and represent the vegetative
communities on site.

e A sufficient number/location of data points should be taken to represent the wetland/non-wetland
status of the entire investigation area.

¢ Data points locations should confirm or refute the potential for aquatic resource presence depicted on
natural resource mapping (Google Earth historical aerial imagery, NWI mapping, NRCS soils mapping,
USGS Quadrangle mapping, National Hydrography Data Set (NHDS) mapping, LiDAR, etc.).

e Data points must be located such that there is at least a pair of points for each wetland identified on
both sides of the wetland line in positions that illustrate the distinction between wetland and non-
wetland.

Maps, Figures, and Photos

e Location Maps: large and small scale maps including streets, intersections, cities, etc. clearly depicting
the location of the site in relation to surroundings.

e Project Area/lnvestigation Area must be overlain on:
o A representative time sequence of historical aerial imagery. Particularly images taken during the
wet season.
USGS Topographic Map.
NRCS Hydric Rating By Map Unit Web Soil Survey Map.
National Wetlands Inventory Map.
LiDAR Mapping If Available.

O O O O

e Site photographs from locations of data points and other relevant site features. Depict photo location
and direction on the aquatic resources figure.
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e Figure depicting all aquatic resources and other pertinent features identified as present preferably on
an aerial image using no-fill polygons. Figure should include:

North arrow.

O O O O

Title Block with project name, applicant, county, state, date.
Solid bold line depicting project area boundary with label.

Clearly marked boundaries of all wetlands and/or other aquatic resources and other pertinent

features that are present (Wetlands, Tributaries, Lakes, Borrow Pits, Ponds, Rivers, Drainage

Features, Ditches).
o Size of the site (acres)

o The size (acres) and length (linear feet) of each individual linear aquatic resource included on

the depiction.

o The size (acres) of each individual non-linear wetland and/or other aquatic resources included

on the depiction.
o Data point locations.

o Photo locations and direction.

The following tables should be utilized for labeling aquatic resources on the delineated aquatic resource map

(wetland delineation map).

Table 1: Aquatic Resource Map/Figure Labels for PJDs and Delineations Only

Label

Description

Wetland X (tidal, non-tidal)

All wetlands, including tidal wetlands.

Non-wetland waters X (tidal, non-tidal)

All non-wetland aquatic resources (ponds, linear features,
tributaries, tidal open water).

Upland

Uplands should be labeled.

Non-aquatic resource X (optional)*

Features determined to be non-aquatic resources.

Table 2: Aquatic Resource Map/Figure Labels for AJDs

Jurisdictional Feature Label

Description

TNW X

Traditionally Navigable Water or tidal wetland.

Jurisdictional Tributary X

Tributary, relatively permanent water, or stream bed.

Jurisdictional Wetland X

Meeting 3 parameters or other wetland determination criteria as
per 1987 Wetland Delineation Manual and appropriate Regional
Supplement.

Other Jurisdictional WOUS X

Other Waters of the United States such as ponds, lakes, ditches,
impoundments, etc.

Non-jurisdictional Wetland X

Wetland determined to be non-jurisdictional.

Non-jurisdictional Feature X

Non-jurisdictional ponds, borrow pits, linear features, ditches, etc.

Upland

Uplands should be labeled when wetlands or other waters,
regardless of jurisdictional status, are present. When no wetlands
or other waters are present, the Upland label is not necessary.

*Optional - Non-Jurisdictional Linear Features or ditches for AJDs and non-aquatic resources for PJDs are not
required to be included on the depiction but should be shown and provided on a supplemental sketch.
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